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• Robert -Ift4n1_e_Y Es q.)--.11-5-5-±q'tant  t 9.rxigar,1  

f or the Peep 

-  Thiff-y-r-Esq. fo-r 

A j-ury is' empaneled and duly 14-411-

MANLY: ynay state, if it Ple"afte tatcr'HbilOrT-

Ythat:the man who upriallY interprets in. P_Ozi-Ahl_a_KpzVI:lx,„:, 

--oalled by ine as a witness. That  being o'M?1 Dttetr, 

. want to g:_qt another interpreter., or
 • 

_--witneeses. I.think probably • if I- do not use }III will hav4 • 

I 



04*.ri*tfiffir.4,7 

t.• 

roller TY. 

AWOL. 

DUFF? We- 11.onout cU he interpretd 

The orilY is he—is going t be a 

itness -in the 

he interprets properly. nOt 

case. Your client can probably tell whethe 

If you. have any *objection. 

, 
at , any time during. the trial, make your objection and 

will exeroise my discretions.. 

--

, 

• 

a. 

• 

• f. 

. If he interprets friendly with the com.-
. 

aining witness I will objeckt anyhow. _ 
• 

1413--.,MANT7Y: I -'do, not know whether is friendly 

not.- _ He was., tent out to do some work on the Case and I 

• am going to call hiffl. I* will send upstairs for a man in  our 
-.• 

or .  

office- a P'olish inter-preter, and if lie iS -avaiTable* I- will 

use h.im. 
. .4".4...i.73•160r4 

a . 

(MrJosepr  Pell, Process Server in the District 

-Attorney's off 1&e  of 110-Forsyth *Street, icalled , . 

into cou'rt• to•aCt inerpreter). - 
_ 

This ,rckan is not the  .re.gular inter -

peter • in this- court. 

IfiR,. DU)3TY He is disinterested party? 

ITANITY: I should .say so. I should think*. both 
• 

were. 

14 Honor please, I think we-better bring • up': - 

,

 

the defend4nts StaZ:son-'and. Dudnitz--s.o that they Can 116,,iden7..• ..-- • 

4+. 

. to 

--4 

, 
-••••,...4•••••--"•-• C Aibewia..to.tow4e. 

OC.t 



R.Ti5PY: The strict Attorder'fn 

o shoW a--conspiracy, and. if there is a .conspiracy 

proposes to identify -elle other two 'defendants. 

_MR, DU:TY: It  fs not a proper meth'od id.entifi-. 

Catign to bring two prisoners up and say, are those _the two. 

prisoners but ,he ha, rih 1-0 describe the prisoners, ,-., • 

MR. DTJPW I think 'the' production of the other' 

two priaOners Will jeopardize the -interests or'tflis'clefen7 

dant.. 

TiDT-COURT: I think 'after I „instruct the -jury as -to 

how to -re-gard this .matter the intrerests. Of your -client will 

not be'-j-eopardized t all:eople in-ot.sca- must be 'identi-

.this case it is irnply unfortlanate that they 1iap7 • 

pen to be prrsoners. I will instruct the 'jury, that the 

the mere fa:at ,at„;_they 

. •have been :indicted' even if th.,;-.y have been indicted, I will, 



involved in this c.ae. If ,:the District Attorney does 

conspiracy that. does /lot make • a., case 
• 

•There Mast be larceny proven in this  Case. 

guilt 

THE COURT: If people,. participate- in a crime, if 

not  principals they may be accomplices.  
. - 

DUFFY: This defendant_ cannot 'be -charged with 

I object to the p?oductiOn 

-hie\dr•d; ant nay be prejudiced 
• 

endants who ar e charged with. a crime.-' 

,• 
.1t\ID'erion, that, person wil be br-Our'r.,ht.  into •ck:urt for the pur-

" 41. 

of beAng identified. .We do no:t want peoP2.e_dientified" 

You are  entitled to compel a •witness - identify a person. 

positively, • not,. -le UrT O specuIate-on.-.--•• 

JR. DUFFY: If this—were a conspiracy,. this cou 

THE COURT: If we talk further Ith±nktheinterests 

of the  defendant may be jeopardi-ied--by th.is argument. We -will 

dispense with further talk. My ruling-i-s- that the vi±tneeses 

in .this. case may be brought hdre for the purpos.e ..of being . 



first duly, sworn, testified as follows: 

interpreter oe -the Polish 'language. • 

DIRECT EXA*TNAt ION By. „10R. yiA.NLEy: 

-Q Did you on the  9th day of.'N-ovember, 

rive in the City, and_C au t :--f--om—c,anacla? A'Yes., 
sir; in the morning. 

U.qh.en you fir-e-t got here where did you go? 

,Ludlow Street. 

Q---- Did you know someone iihia was 'living th.j.re? 

an address on Ludlow Street. My friend -lived there. Whin 

-id you go 'there to see- your friend,.or to get a room 

Or, why di.d you go there A I expected that my friend 

any handbag? ' A Yes,. I had. 
‘ 

- ) • , _ - - -, 
Q When you found you could no-t, et a room in-Lua,ow-, l_ 

. . _.,.. d 
trtFiie211.-a.you_leave your bag? A ' I left the vaAise 



w elf4 you,carie t New 

any money with you? A Yea 
• 1, 

What  wets that money., haw rau:Oh?- ' 

what, _kind.- of--money•-?,---,-4A.- -Twelve- ten dollar 

°arid six five -dallar 

Q That kind -of money, , United States money. or Canada, 

Canadian. 

_aren't you? 

Canadian money :it was worth:friore than 

United. 'bates Edney., 

-A.- - 
money.. I am not  asking .you to.,; condeife, th.at he had it; 

• , • 

tates-

of -America?- Are you,willinr; to concede just that fact? He 
-t 

is  not—asking you to concede that the complaininp-, witness 

t 

not _worth anything at all. 

THE COURT:'" We are not asking at all about any • 

money this witness sad.. - -We are simply asking this,.facte irr 



t- to what'het  witss had. Will ypu-.:Cdnce 

anadia,n money • is worth at least V Ame ican—money?   . - 

8,annat 

ilgh,pn .77 ou say -4,,,rou -saw Anarew. Sal 4.-11-- you riean.°Andy. 

Andy Samittai 

TS that the man who was triedr4an.-&--conv-i-cted in t1iis 

THE COURT' what ground? 

MR; DUFFY: It is no't such evidence as is relevant 
/ • - 

or proper under this indi-Ctment. Was this defendant -present--

THE COURT: On that groun-d.--the objec • n 
. - 

Is Ovqf--

ruled. Mr.  Manley W1_11._leave  Out ,of his question any refPr-i 
4. 

ence to any man by the name of Samitto being convicted. 

MR. MAUY I am going to call him as a witness. 



.. regard  the fac-4. ,that anyone by the name o:f. -Savitto ha& 

th.is court room two-,--weeks ago? 
. , 

MR. DUFFY: I object because .this 

-nothing about this. 

mean the' same m 

Exoeption. 
. _ 

A Yes. Sarilit standing- with another .m.an. and Speal.cl'ilft77 • 

the, Polish they knew where 

•THE' COURT:" 

have TTnade.,-if- during the trial it develops that this testi--

money is .not a,11 conhected with the dbfendyt in the base, 

then of course' upon your 

c-onnez_tad_ipatalth-e' de enda-nt; 
_ 

-incsompet-eht-.-If it £-rrcrtb -
• 

then  *ill' be pas.sed upon. 

. MANLEY: I want to 



ant.; $trazson Mudnit-z-ana. Samitto*. That. IpeiriE.:, 

rule of law that Flnyth.ing saj,d by one conspirator in , • J., 

-abeence„ of-, the •other--;11 

is Adm,issible 

answered was._ why 

tben-i? • 
4 

THE WITNES: 

-stay over night. 
_ 

_ BY R. MANLEy:- 

Q, - Wtat dici they 

I—object. 

Exception. 

- fOr° a_roota, Sa,mitto told-me--"A-ll right; you come 

house and I ask -my wife." 

Q,, What did you do then? A Then he took me 

'442-461---i5133eaild'Samitto T,sked :his wifeshe got .a roon 

'Straight 

wi-th. the sidewalk. 



you t insjde. ,yoU have some, tAlk with 

amitto? A Samitto told shoiilLwa,it in the, hoUse 

44.11_,o over to his brother in71aW:--affd Ok7him if. 

room'. 

What d'id' you say to him_ when he.-Skid that?., 

. "Al]. right; E will  wait. "-

_J; Mid, he leave the house then? 

fiell me. all the Conversation with- Samitto along -that 

line before you went out. 

I -object to the question on the -ground 

that it tends to shoy a. -conspiracy tietween the complaining• 

witness ax  Sarni-
, 

THE COURT:. Objection overruled. 

- -4 4 ", 
MR. _DUFFY: Object to it as.%inOOMpetent 4rrelevant-

defendant it will be stricken out. 

WITNESSI' Before Samitto walked out frok the 

room'IIS.amitto asked me where I coffe from, what I was workin 

told him that I have got Canadian nioneY,. and Samitto told me 

"All right, '• you should let me see: " I refu.sed to slow- him:, 

and Saki4ito told me he says:. :1%11. right;' 



to see how the-t.oney loocs, the.Cana.dian mane 

the money a.nd showed him_ a ten dollar bill da 

maney . and 

haven-It got ]t." He looked at, the money- and. his wife 
-- • 1L-7-
at the money-, aind he turned the money over back to me 

•aff(1. wa,iked out t 
• 

Ways that -..mo_ney. loose in a roll or was it in a ifrooket 

A It was loose withaut a pocket book. 

Q This ten dollar bill that you showed Samit.tor..-what /Sart 

-t--• , . 
_Dia', it remain on the top when you put _ - . 

in your pocket? A Yes, sir. 

roll back. 
.•. 

'Q, Now, how long -was/ it before Samitto came back -after' 

he went out?- A Possibly an hour; orobably 'less than an , 

orne-----irt alone? The twO mem sittin 

—•••:--•in the -iima-dk:-.6-‘mwTth in the cko t.,hq room. 

Sitting here-back there? _Near the police office 

twb'en-Stand: Up; 



-Stason. and Nike Dudnit s 4114 1.113 in the court' 

nd are i-dent,ifi:red.. by the 1711 t s 4 

THE COURTY:71T-put it on the recorth 

object. 

two men -that  iS jnowin. the back of the room? 4 As  -soon, 

as he, cattle- ill.- Wi VI the two men amitto -4.sked---rae—for--twen• yr_ 

-Gents to '..-g-ive-Tri-m forA ileor 

Did you" give It•'-•-to--h-ii ___A__ I -gave -to him arid he _ . 

Did hego out- anif &ë tome beer: and come back and 
• , 

give you the c-ITw je A, I give.: Samit.to $5. and Tie--wetrt-'.--atit 

• 
they s tay_ in -Sam t to ' -s---irteksase-?---A Ye s , s ir . They remained 

  e ini-IfEeT. house p -

Q, That happerreir-a-fter Samitto came back with ,the beer? 
•f"'" 

A There was ano:ther—laan wIth hi 



amitto came- back' with the 'beer. 

s_ wife? A _Saarattp ...ara,d his wi e 

another pCrson iith his wife there-.--7-

:q *How much did you drink of that beer that was first. 

brought in ? A I had two glasssof beer. 

q That is I do not mean during the entire afternoon, but 

how ' much, of the beer did you drink out of the first beer 

said:the beer ShittO  -"You reMain :here i going Up 

to my brother in law 'about that room. 
, 

7q. Drd gu-aat - the second time, 

Q Did he go out alone? A All alone. 

(I Did he:come \-Ipack in a short time? A AbOtt n Ilalf 

and Dudnits -stay in the house -while 

Samitto went out this time? A Yes, they remalmed in the.  



Until about six o ' p lock.. We were in....aami.t to ' s room. After,  

 ,  bcty s -to 'me:. "You come along with me and I Will go' 1/4--VID 

Iva s it wl-re -ft 
, - 

Abo'ut two o olock.7 

- 
Q Yew, heiSami4-to saia tell us, did,, Stazzon 

the shorter -man in the bacic of the.room? A Yes, sir. 

What happened After that ? A I walked out from the 

houO find.-Samitto '..116:" the two other

 

men, the tall fellow and . 

the :short : one. 



shorter fe'llati arid.. what, A The  short fellow 

in  righ 

M1. MANIa?1Y I told .yOu that_was-Mike, Du.dxtiU, 

q, -131.-n1try $tazson., that- is_right  gç iead. A_ ,Samt; 

itto.with„the other fellow walked ahead q of is and I followed' 

with the shorter -fellow, 

Go ahead. 

thi''.owed out the pbckefloo017-life.--pid tis 

walk -away on the. side, and we walked away on +he side. 
_ 

man here dame over . to me, ci,nd he came -over to me -and' told 

us that he lost the ' money. 

How Soon djd 1e dome over? A Probably two 

Q, What did he -say when he a.me Over? A He - 

and said that he lost $3.75. And this defendant said  that „ 

he .acdused us, that we .p.taked up the -money, 

dant instructe. us to show whe picked--up. the money, and -who 

has got the money. Samitto howett thein the 'rocket book which 

11.4 D±okea up an  ft-tl,c, re -va. s Apr bill After the • 



ad/ ,been owing ,money, then they tOid-4,16 

Q, Staz son and Dudnitz What happened'i next? A 

I to.okout, my Pocket book from the pants pocket and showed 

-my pocket book with the money, and 

  show me the-athr, money. ,I took out the other money from.g 

pocket from inside. 

0 Frpm the eoat_pocket? A In the inside vest poeket4--
_ 

I -took it Out,and_showed it, an:74cept the money in my hand 

and showed iLo Samik t-o+ oe--d- the money to SamItto 

Diadtor andl.Aldnitz, and t'ney to-id me to give +h money to-this 

Q To whose hands? 'A This.-man. 

Q The aefenaant's -hands? A Yes; sir. 

That is Dipitry rltazzon, go ahead.' A 

rue it was all right; -"don't be afraid; 'give it to him' 

soon as I turned-ana gave the mdney to -this defendant the 

_ 
defendant turned away on the side and turned' back and'he gave 

.me something in my hands 

0 Go ,head, A Ai 1 looked at that I see a 



that .ande,I .p4t it,inth thy pdpket,;-• 

.ucted the tall fellow 

2'ou. --„meaiv•- the taller- :of the two 

dd this d6fenda'lit 'Walked 

Who was it that went away with you? A Dinitry- 

walked with—me. 

That is Vi;p4try ata971? A Yes. And the Shorter 

SamittO a,nd this defendant walked.maway the other `way, 

go ahea,d. A An'd Di try walked with 'me-

toki-a corner and he told the to slay there and to remain and he 

will be back sight  away. --

Q What did he co when he told you tha•O 

been wa,iting -for him--

what- d id- 33-irvio,i'Y' 'lib. A Walked-aviay...- - 

Where did he. walk on the street or into' a house ot 

A He went back somewheres;• I don't knOw where. 
- 



see,ihe d9e.sn'-t---cOme 1back, and. I took. out the money, at 

looked at it an_d I found out that—the Money which.. 

Q, How HoW long did you stay there waiting  for Dinitry9 
3 

or did you ld'Olc-*.at it after you had 1et A As I s-tiAed. 

to walk 'away from that corner. 
, . 

T,et *us get back tro the spot where:: the money was 

taken. Do I 'understand you to Say this defendant' Bodner: _ 

and Wilke Dudnitz a:nd Andy Sam t to Wa-lk-ed away together? 
• 

in—crfirection and as - testified the 

another direction, a i CT:rig 6ier three walk side by side 

away? -A The shorter fellow which ca.Me in befOret,re-. 

the back? • . A Yes. 

Q, I show .7-cru this little   bund;...1e._ and  ask yOu  

-that way, inside, the ten. dollar bill on top and the _twenty 
'nit  

dollars. insi 



Is. thaf:•what. you .found .You hads in youri5bcket_mhen 

ou looked 

marke-a-PeOple' 

x121b71.1711e„ I Or identification. 

'THE COTIRT: So marked. 

larked People's exhibit No. 

--Did y61,1 4Ieti Er,o to. the -police 

Q Did ,yau see bffiCerllansburg there? 

. • . 
do you, think? A 275 Bowery.  

after you -,.1.-eft the pOj.ideman that day did iou 

go'but:looking fOr Elnyliddy? 

"Q, Where ata_ybu-go? 4 A z had-beeil-wwik-ing through 
4  

the street to see if T-couIa fina them-. 
- A4 

the ftr aeSamitto in Polish? A I cannot Probounce *Mb 



Came out. from 

• r , 
Q Then did you go to the offaxer_ata have 'him arrested?. 

Yes, I did. Isiowed 'to the policeman that money. 

Q- -Now, last week, I think it was on Tuesday, did you 

go—over-in that same loality with officrIlansburg and some 

Is that officer.7a.,sburg th 

(Officer:Iiansburg stancis up), 

11 That man there? 

(Mr. Yeratchnik stands up aria is identified by the 
% 

q And where did she take you?' A 

out did you recognize them  -as the two mqn lamitto hadlrought. 
• . , 

•ittcr-Sailitto-t-s—irottee- on the Right this happened? A. Yes, 



what happeneci_after tha 

dtS:tiuse7T; 

Did you see anybody else that n-ight; ariybodY 

arrested on -that • sEqn.,e _night? A This defendant hered' , 

Where was it that you saw the defendant her  first 

that night when  he was arrested? A I saw him at -the. --time__ 

*hen he changed; mf moneir. 

h:im fir d-f. 'V In the polide ,t i on. 

9, DiL1 
,. • 

you----se-e- him in tiie -11ou se where they ai*'-rested. him? 

Did the policeman leave. you in the station house 

until all three of them were arrested? A Yes, sir. , 

9,. Well now, when you saw Tohn Bodner, this d-cfcndant, 

In the statiOn house-,--- 'd you recognize ,.,him? A Yes) sir' , 

identified him" irtm.ediately._ 

When you identifiedi him, did john BOdner say 

to you? A John Eodner said he don t know me at all. i'• 

Did you hear him- say—anything else besides thaf?' 



, What was the name of your -friend in Ludlow Street 

Q How. did_ you, conie to knot. him? A knew €ha6 man 

from Europe. Been wOrking :together. 

Q, Did. he work with  you i n Canada? A: Udel he came 

went. td Canada. 

How .did you know he lived ori 'Ludlow qtfeet? - 

A. Of coUrSe he sent me letters and I sent him answers. 
‘11 

4,f1. What- -part of the United States cad, you arrive at'. 

in crossing he line? _A 'I came to te-fw .York. 



.§ 
know of any other part . -0 f Cana bètdie -the-- 
mentioned?  -4-1 was in El1enboroi was in 

("), ' liYhat ki.nd of laboring? A —I--- ha.ve  been:: J. ing:-:-7-- • _ .. tt,. 
C.• . . 

-anes with—a-- s1e4e-,e --itaxatTier : 

e :Battery 1119m.1ng from .Canada. 

T'MT WITNESS I carniot say that. 

Q, What• was - the n'd.me of . the railroad.. you cameon?, 

tha t 1 paid to the C P. 11. Coinpany 

• Q, or  the _five days coming to_ Ne_w___Yor.k_f_r-oni--Ganada:i-:------7-,4-..,- 

did yolL wal ok—zry----of- the di s  nce-A No sir . - 

_ How much drd you pair 'or he icke A 4$,1.0:   _ 
, aTding-  yd five nlFhts here 

N•mr;.4.4ty,i4041110. 



f money have they go. 

besides what you call Canadian money? I d 
. . 

only  know . Canadian moneY; th4;-t—is all f 

Q Could you distinguish between Canadian money and 

:States' Mo'ney?_. A -16.ok6 petty near -alike, 

Q, -you diani t capre in on a sleeper; did you; sleeping 

_ 

loassenger- train. 

.Q Now; you iig.ve seen different kinds, of money in  

Q, Was it a freight car you came dia 

• Canada, haven't you? 

Ana. you have bePn- in the -habit of Seeing this kind 

of money' here marked for identification; haveni:t•you?, 

(WitnesS exabines People s.,exhibit -1To. iden. 

didn't see such-meY . 

9, Did you ever see that kind of money in Russia?-



Now,.have-_:.: ...tlitt.kt..3.9.11:'in New :t.i.qe.k. .pli..t . 
.•.. -y. . 

you got off at9 A I cannot say .04401 don't know.  

Did you haire.,.:,4. label on  your •coat? A NO ..-str..,.. 

,. Who directed you:_to-.:-1..ludlOw AdLthe,.. .. .,.• 

.addreiss to go to LudImtree t.  and I asked a Ip.an 

where to ',go, and the man told. rae t • go .according to the 

• Da., you-z-iti-dir-staTid: any 4ng4.sh?  
. . . 

atrnanguage do they talk in Caaada? 

Where you was? A 'Yes, sir. 

ery 'very,little• 

wn from the steatner% 

heiy-411! -came fruniTRUZ-Sia to this country. where _ _ 

aici you land.? 

s there ay particular _object in this 

MR.. DUFFT: right. I don't think he ever was 

the morning of,Ncregmber 9th? _ A About nine o'clock in the 

(No answerr), 



a 

mAtlay: Ht didn t *meet ;any Nan. went there 

and went' avvaiT. 

That time of tile. d-4'y did yOu—rrieetarix 

You didn't find-your friend in Lug.IA* Stre-e-t-

  • Did 'YOU go. to jersey: City? A remained for a 
' 

ar 0 Uha 'here. in New York City;then'ii-e'r_ the Week I found — 
- 

out that the Inan: lived jersey City and I Went to jersey 

MR. lilANLR'Y: You, mean a week afterwards? 

When Aid you .arrilre in New York? 

YR. MAIM?: Does t'iat mean just before th•e NWY 

n or when he .rrived in New  York from Jersey- C-4-tIF 



here .had you .S opped 

n the train that time. 

-theirst one you spoke -to -in Lulow-Strebt 

ma to tell you about Ludlow street Or Hou'apn%Street?-

(1* On Ludlow Stre4? A I ripoke4.to a man by the name 

_ 
Q Then you did know somebody else besides your, fr_ie 

of Udell Christen; Stayirig with a man jaddb Chamoi. 

::gptir trip from Canada Of five days Where 

carry-the money isting o'f twelve -ten dollar bills and 

six five dollar bills? A, I.h.ad it in the oar and kept it 

my*in--side vest _pocket. 

Q Did. you carry the pocket book 'besides? 

CI had separate money in my pocket book. 

During the trip on the train for five days did you 

take your clothes off? ' A I was sitting in my lothe.s dur7 

I was .afraid-tO 

„ ,sleep; I didn't sleep during the, night;.I slept most during 
• 

. the 4ay time.. 

Were ther,e- many people on this L4 that you came' on? 



A To Montreal 'there were more Passengers said from..1..trOn‘r_eal-

Then the—balance of the t1me was taken in coming 

New 14k from Montreal? 

• Eft lffR;- DUYif: 

'•Samittolfa Jiouse :on November -9th?- .A_ Went over 

.It was -about 

Xha:t_tir. bid'.yOu go,to :his house? A I was 

Samitto's house at two o'clock. 

That time was it when you first got ,there? 

About two o'clock:in.the afternoon. 

-(1 :who took you: from . the street to samitto's house? 

walked 7 to Houston - ttaet myself.„ 



his  wife and another -Man. 

And y-ou Saw Deinitry then too?.• 
- 

" 

t yo'g .say the -taller one  of those men wath ' there. 
- • • 7 i 

MR. NTAY: You mean when he first got the-et 

MR. DUFFY: -Yes. 

:_THE WITNESS:. As I went in with Samitto the firSt . 

Sarni t to s room ttre-re was. no )Dinitry, no --nolady eicept 

Didn.,i-t you arrange. with •-Samitto s wife far :a 

I asked them if they ca,rl give r„rie rOom. 

And you on1.7 wanted- the .room. -Po,- the ntErht, didnEt 

I asked for a room until I f ir;C1 HO friend. 

. HOW much oiri YOU _agree LO nair qamitto for the room? _ 

first time coxninc, in I aicin, t show a:ny.--frioney. 

When did you first show your money? - A That was 

while I was sitting- in Samitto's. room, and then Samitto 

wants to o to his brother in 'idw. Before that he had asked 

your pocket? ----A -No, s-1,-; I didn't. 

Q, DiarA you tell Samitto 'that you had Canadian money 



y612r pocket b 

thered. me 

-You—went—to -Sami t to 1S hottSe at two o Clock in tlie 
, _ - - _ 

afte:fnobn of NoveMber .9th a-nd then you first. saW .Staz,scin. ah 

Dudnitz,  thole two wttnesses? A: And. Samit to went -away to 

his brother_Li-n law to  see - if I can get a room there.After 

came back ,With the two defendants... 

would bring beer. 

Lnd'hukcjbeer; --didn't. you?/ A Yes, I 'did.' _ 

Q And he -Came back, with $4.50 Canadian money; didni...t.lInt 

Yes American money. 

he came back with ' 

. — .•, 
TBE C-_011T[rn- —How much American money -did he, come- 'back 

I have spen Americallmoney I 



ana,dian money. 

Had you ohaned any •:'you o -

you ri*d•rjuf,' any money while you were here? 

nobody. , 

Q,. How many pints of -beer sdid you send for that day 

Two 

sen±- out, once 

' - 

mitrto 

his wife and the three defendap.ts .and -another rn arxd.liis 

After another girl came. 

How aany altpgether :would you 8ay? • A Abd_Rt 

to ErTinIC 1e.s of beer? A yes., sir.. 

- Ai:id no more beer ,cume in there that thy? A. Afte 



•  first. pint  ten 0.eritSi we.s se.qat:: mkt -ageInr 

wife.; 

Yes, he did. 

D 

Q t- the. boy _tell. you. 

He did:not sa3jr. 

How • many zlae_ses of beer diu  Pu.dpitz hate.? 

• no more. 

. walk around the corner? A I was in Samittoitl roqm gren 

110 o'clock until aoutix. ' 



beSi4es Mrs-. 

One woman and another; a girl came in. 

any. dancing? IA 

6rily dr-inking? A That - was only  -the—two glasses 

that number and wrote it down on a piece of paper. 
• 

- Q At the time -the  
- 

money was taken 

say you made the note ,on the piece o paper? A And I se-edg-

back-then I naticed ,that number. 

After you lost your money who did. You first. speak .to 

about the lo s.$ of. it? A- Inwent  bad,,.. to Ludlow Street and ,. 

Q You th t the money was "rakell t 275 Bowery?'i 

A Yes, sir. ' I 'didn't say to anybody else that I lost the -

A No-; to-ok the police officer dieer there to the number. 
 A • e. 

How far is that from, 291 East Houston stroet-wbere 

.291 is fron 4.11,18-

tie the peepne 



HiAiiion Street? -

What time of the night was tins 

ph s t six in the e ven in 

at yoii had that day aid 

stand still and 

—th-e--Ae-f-e-ntlant_walked with the •tothe othe-r: corner and left, me-
_ . 
there. 

was 'one b],„ic-kz away; was it" A 'tea, tr.. 
_ - 

:And- walking up.. _one blo_cle.r.ou aaiimtbing_ 

corner 

. . 
tft to and he other twa zra-

A - riam1tt-6 411.d wo walked away also in another 

ciirection and th115 jendant took me over 1.,gc,the eorner. 
_ 

-011Pnlualiteff -wait for at the oorpt-e,r=fr 

He said—before the .defendant -took 

T.itjt 71ITN311!9,9: 
- 



told yt to wait9 A The 'taller one: toOk me 

to tiie corner_ aryi.,he._-_liollttme_ to wait there -and would he 

Q After you waited at the corner, half an hr and 

Dinitry back to I 

Where  
_ 

I didn't go there that time. 

did you arrive 

Q, There was nobody on the Bowery that 

Walkinfr people, but they took me away- to _ 



ve• 'o'clock you went in the police 

station? A I said before that I have been between seven-

Where did vou stop thzi:t ,night, November 9fh2-__,_, 

stoppe.a off at Lixdloyr 1"a icd,„%tn.,,,,,„9,22he floor,  

•1..yin all h 

Wasn't :it the next -thzy ttrou vien-tto the polic-e 

wWhere e station house? On Fifth rtreet. 

Q, You ,were preSent we ;l ga,rai fto was arres-ted 

LYe r• was +:1,ie police officer -•--

,Monday• morning, and .he was -arrested-sq.-F., ii'LShs 
• 



Now, te o.thèr two that.,owl.aave'Lld:ent,ified----hare. as 

Sta.zsonand .Dudnit vu6re.pdinted out to :17ou by. Samittp, 

„riffZ. lifA.d.LEYT—nean at 

Samitto's wife pointed them out) and you wbre in 

. was in 

-the police station. 

Q . Didn't 

other defendant?. AYo, this defendant came into the -station 

hou,se before, and th.e polioeman ,has been following, and I 

pointed out Y-irht this Aan. 

In the stat4on house? 

In the police station? 1..es, sir. 

TH7 ;i0U therita-lked, ,to the defendant, 



This deferidant 

-knoW anyth,ing abou 

1- told the d-efendant 'never mind-that you don't 

. Sandak night? A • 

Wasn't yoif there Sunday night?. 

HDid you Use those words,  

I did not.. 

Did you ask the defendant if hp' knew anything aboUt % 

your Money? A .No, , . , 

'Q. DiariTt'the defendant teg_I-yOU-1 after you spoke to 

that  saw you .and didnit know anything about 

house; this defendant told::me:. "What do 7011 Want of4rrie,J do 

not 'know anything about I told ?rim:"'All right, Ikrow 

you are the.m4n;" 

Q  Was he aressed the dame as he is-dress'ed now? 

th,-.time when Ile changed the moneY he was 

he then ctresged as he is now? 
-kok 

' ZEE WI,TNESS: Yes; Your Honor. 

When you'qaw him on Aunday night ,you 

,coat? A ,No, he had no overcoat on at ally 



'The onljr tzne y u•,,s-aw this defend4aton he ngh 

November 9th was after- you  .walked two blocks om, 

'house :and met hit and Walked a 1://...6-9.k with Taiii aneLSamitto and 

first met Jhim poming from. Samitto s..ouse? A At the time , 

• r • 
" 

roo ama to s' hbube I dian t see this . 

t at the time when the pocket boOk Wat8 

9th for the first time was the exact time and moment_ that_ziau 

Ana just At that moment that you had seea the defen-

dant, and you haffiret—tim money:over, how 
lieril=e:lapsed before 



-minute's at this time when you say you ,passed your money over 

the five minute's I- was 

It Ws' light enough, and-I seeim' 

with him or more,at th'e ime the 

-,man'-the money he tu.ned around tmediately and then turned-' 

_ 
A Then aAdn't he walk rightaway down to 

  A R i'ht lfter that, that eh'O-flit-feliked away fi 

' that man Samitto followed him and this defendant followed 

Samitto. -A-ll three went away. 

Didn't you walk to the corner with the four2 

1, walked away only wit11. the taller.fellow what 

was here before, corner.. 

-CULD,12.4.*,.-49:frirtliPr gaastion8?   _ , 
Mvo•vo* • 

• -  



OM anada„? 

". 
therefore I came' here. 

when I: have been in 'Llidlow Street-.  

-ct That is when you say you were. in Ludlow Street the' 

01. 
When you took out +he money to show it to Sariitto 

, in )Samitto s house, and showed him the ten d011ir 'ail, was 

your money all right that time? A Yes sir. 

Q Is thrs Mrs. Samitto •stiab.ing here that I am talking  

about? A  

Q, Were you intoxicated 'Ian that. day_?_____A- NO; .not 

DUITY: }low lonrr, after you say the Marley was-

given to .the defendant did you discOver thatother money was: 

put  in place of the rrood  money? 

MP.ly;ANI,EY: I co not understand, that a -

overover to the defendant .41id you discover that ,you had obtained 



--TTE-COURT:--re may ask... 

literally., just like 

Addressing_ the Interpreter.); 

-THE- WITNEDS : Ralf an 

_ 
_Wkiere were I/au-when you discovered your money was 

. • - • 

As I was left by -the'. ta,11--ilaan.-,to•reriiain at 

- 

Wh.ere dia [rou carry this five dolarll that-yOu _ 

iras stolen? A In z.17-Velst pocket-,;--

qt Did you }ve any othe,- rioney n.your pocket besides 

'-.his,five collar bil3.? A Only the five,dollars. 

EY •DITP*rb's 

pocket 

Canadian money4' is. 



Wen 791,1 fool(' your roll. out of your pocket to 

' - 
-the, ten d011ar. Canaidian bill o Samitdid. You 11.1A4, 

- 

your: whole roll oi lye hith only the ten dollar bill? 

3  kept the -meineY in my' hand .aria just showed him how 

Dia you keel) it in your hd.nd' a _1 the 

A Yes, I aid. 



Presen 

RAgS T1 of the DetBctive Bureaui•15th Pre-

cinct- a. witness • for the-prosecution-15-etiV- first duly worn,, 

.this city 

to tite-'deteCtive 

:3jid2 7ou on -,the eVeninF o 

Nvèrnbeo his year, did you se 

A 
Near what street? A Between Houston 

cinct did you 

Pdttei. 



O Charles Put-t-er 

lita7s bama....tto. -under arrbst at that 'time, -
7 

Some time lastlast  week, I thinkiit was Tuesdaylast 

week . wer-e you prepent,-at -my- off ice—in"-rthi's-

--41 Do you recall who else *as there? A gamitto 

  the interpreter sittintt in court here. 

.(),
 

The _gentleman sitting here? A. Yes'', 'sir/ _ - , 
sQ, Did' I at that time qiv'e'TdU the -names of any persons? 

. • • 
--P owas ?--A— ;Po-h-ri • 6dner; _ 

Zrohn- Eociner?' A.• 



in  the  statiOn—hous of the 15th precinct? A Left him r 

station house of the 15thiredinct, 

Dia you take: along Alexander Olekofsky:or,-did--xou-

him at t.,,le'same statipn? 

A Mrs. Samitto. 

answer this yes or no-- aid Andy Sam4tto and Mrs. -eamitto 

Where was it she ook vou? A First 

th a'sdldon. -I 

There was nobuay arrested at that _point? A 

4 

Di.qtry .Stazson. 

From t:nre.where did Ers. Samitto take you.? 



Stazson .and Dudnitz? 

Then you started out from the 15th precinct station 

hou-Se? A Yes,sir. 

you. tdae with you? A. Samitto. 

Detective Wun sober the. ; interpreter and. mySelf. 

.Q, . _•Who was it 'that was leadi?ig, or .ta,kinp:.-the -.patty_ 
, <0, 

any where thatt time? A Staz son and Andy: Samitto.. 

Who was leading this t44e, Andy Semitto-and.Lthe 

Staz son does the. leading! 

Where ',did he take you? A 32'7 East. 23 Street. 

_hearing of the d.E.L.frendant. 



opened the door -firs see- a-Asan—starlding up, and I 

got holdGf 14.m. and Stazson says: "T t the  man, it is, 

— the man sitting down 

Q, The:de f endamt% here'?   

. Then: what 'takes place?_ A 1lace Tohn Bodner und 

- Tell 'me the comrt-rsation.+hatOqzbk- lace. betwoen YOU , r 

and anybody in the hearing of. the defendant? A 1 told T 

,tohn Bodner he was -..rtested .for stealing- 4W0. frOM a man 

by the name of, Olekof sky. I asked him did he take the money 

and he says no. We all left then and  went down to the sta—

ttOnhouae-t: , to 4-1.1_,a tat i n house and DeteCtive 

'Wuncicher froes in wi,h- 701-In Bodner in his rear and as  he _ 

in the complainant , Alexander Dle"<cf sky, identified .±ohn 

Bodner as the Man who got hlc money. 

versation- between 7olln Modner am(' anybod? 

. q Tell -what it Was? A I could not understand. 

Was—it in Polish? 



sta.tfon:be.tween TiOdner anct anytody was in Polish?-. 

'..411 li.4eard 

After—You got to the tation house tell u,s mil:at took: 
• 

'place there? A I asked John' Bodner Old he know the cora—', 

- Olekof sky? ' 

r - • 

Yes, si?.- Olekofsky says: "That iS 
C. 

the man that Stole my money." 

. q When did Olekofsky _say that? A' Pitrht as we brourrht 

7..b.im'into—the station hoUse • We Walked int0 the station•hov.se, 

- 
and' he saysto.Jo:in Bodne7;-77' he cone on the run and he_._says 

"That is the man that to,ok:mv mone-q"befsoreanybodY had:a 

Chance to say a word-.7 

OURT: Strike out the laSt part of .he answer., 

Q  In what 'part of the station.house was Olekofsky at 

ifaat time? A: In the detective room,_ 
vgg"' 

q Someone took Bodner into the room where Olekofsky _ . 

was? . A Yes, sir., 

Q
 

Now, what i the verr. first thin7, that. took place 

when you .togk Bodner Into the ,-odm wh-e-re Olekofsky was? 

A •Olekofsky says.: "That is the.,lan that stole my money." 

_q- Ana this was, whore? A To-Jo'In Bodner. 

0 Is that the very fir'St conversation o.r.any kind d 

scipgn that takes place when 7ou take Bodner into the room 

where Olekofsky was? A Yes, sir. 

ersrol 



• 

-That didadn   if anything in reply th* 

I asked John Bodner::"Do_you kno*.th s Man?" 

Lndidatim OlekofskY. 

He.,sayz no,'sir,-. 

Tb,s there any other talk? A I ased 

Andy Semitto aria he said he 

Q, He  did know him? A ---I asked if John Bodner knew 
I 

••Andy SeMitto,' anci oTin E-odner -answered  

Q,' Did Sam_it:to say anythinF when Bodner said he.0.±idn-it 

know- Olel5ofsky? A ' Samitto said sorfte'thinF, in 1°__Ijih,____TI4en_ 

y of December. 

Q' his arrest for larcen? A A month after; ye:E3, 

that you saw Olekofaky in the station ouse 

on November • 10th?.— A I 'saw td.:m on ITOtember 9th. 

Q, At what time? A Letween eiF-7%lt, and nine 

Q, Dad you se Hq t 11owin7 day,- 'November 10th? ' 



ad , any. drffe-st. been,.. Made at that time 

time did you arreat SaMitto? A At nine e _ 

CI You arrested him from 291 Eat Houston Street? 

r -plab'ed lItgr-under arréstat the 15th precinct 

station house. , He was brought into .the 1.5th precinct s atien 

Novembei-

9th did ;you have any converse; ,ion wi+.h him'? Yeg7-sir. 

„It the time? 

he till 7o.0 thAt he had been- at 

He didn't know what laguse he was at. 

Q Have you 4ny idea how Olekbesky ,names t.heBowerSr. as 
• 

:the place where he was robbed? A I ,asked Tiow came to 
. • 

say the Bowery, said it was  the second elevated over. irs 

there is one elevated and- -tllen another 

Then .you etook iiu 



Setween 

Prom 'November lath until December 9th had anY,attempts 

.Arld the first knowledge you received of any of these*-

unknownmen was from Mr.. Mn1ey A DiqtrOt Attorney, XaJloy 

q That was on December 9th'? A placed-hith 

under arrest-.= was that on•theth,-- yes, DAgetber 9'th, 

• When 47he clefQndant. was b-ough jnto.the §tation . 

'liaise: on December ',9th Oiekofsky was mi. room inmde9 
A: 'YeS, sir. - 

Q, Ana when he Came in the officer brought ht 

into the room) tlie,officer who arresied  Ladner? 

A Yes, .sir.  
— 

--xought ',aim right into the room? 

W71,-5 toaitjug 

Just as Johmodner 
• 

en _iat  ritO1c iy nione ".. 



Waiting to see-Bodner? A He didn't know he -to.ra 

•eee,-BOdner.,. 

Had Olekof sky, 1Jen waiting -at the stati6n 

a ma,n who would be arrested? A We ha,d Olekof 

-

 

s-tat ion house to ideptify the van, to- see iT 

man; weweretin on the safe side . 

  Q, OlekOfsky Was 'there fOt that. pUrpose? 

-purpose of identifying - tli,e• man 

,Then4hen the officer brought the defendant into the, 

room where Olercof..k-Y was Olekofsky said: "That's the matiAr 

How lonc after that Was the, other party hroug'h-

er were identifiedjoefore that. 

Thenwere they identified? 

° •The Same day?' k The--sam6.. day. 

Ana did you-have Oieic.bisky in the station house 

. waiting for them.? 

a ...before ,,rou...1...e-rt the ettion holls'el.'Irs. Sc 



Weren't they in same roOM with Olekofsky?*: 

They were in the same room. 

a And they were talking their Anguage 

could underStanq the language yes, 

q 1-ey Were talkinri: PoliSh? .A.Ares 

'three were in the room: just befOre-you star., 

Olekofsky_ 

Then the first two -were brought to the station hual-SS--

Olekofsjy identified them 'r-ight in that ro&m? 

Said those were the .men w3 were were   7YesY-spir,. 

. . 
Q..And at nine o'clock this 'defendant was broughtAn 

.„ 

ariON'the same :procedure was gone through? A 'At'seven. thirty 

.P.3.111. this defendant was brought in. 

-a. And while the identification was made 

'house Yrs. 53amitto was-• there? 

'Where was she? A nhe went home. 

Asn't ("sehe, there WI-ie.iie-de44endaAt was li');ought in? 

'SeooriC !.?tr 



e pointed"tbein: out? 

__And sh.poined olit—tht-S—defendant? A What def 

Were you with :.azsbn? 

dtt ti,le leading. 

'There was:_odner? A 7e-s. 

brouEht'yOu to the J..ace? A 327 '77ast .230-trq'et. 

*houSe 1 grabl-ped another man who was Standing*and he says:. 
f. 

:IThat ainit-th-& inan; therel-ie is itting downi thatTs the 

1,7777.Y:- That is all. 

of any place be had 4.ime? 

'THE TVPNP:-;S: 



c.ution; being first duly sworn, testified 

DIRECT EXANINATION Ey MP. MANLEY 

That is your -business_? A Interpreter. 

Q, And whereabouts are- you interpreter? 

of Special Sessions General Sessions; also called on the 

Is that your 'native 'tonue? A Yes sir. 

ow, we're you nthe_9th of December of this 

togetheY• with officer Pans. burg anrAndy Samitt61--- A 

Lid you -go- over outo the east side that -night? 

A Yes. 

L i d you see Lirs. Sam“td-there- too? 

Q„. Also Alexander Olekofsky?' A. r 

were yOtt- pres'ent at the .arrest of cltazson am: Dudnitz? 



. iduals? A' 

Pan,sbixrg, Mrs.. Samitto 'and Ptazson. 

Anzzloay_ else . -, A ,.„A. detective. 

A Detective 

*A Stazson took us 

What took place there?' 'Before he- said h.e • didn t 

-know anything.., un Al the defendant Dualnitz was arrested. 

Q, Lid .t.azs,on take :7?-(-51-1 into any hOul-Seon.'23d (7treet9 

• •Q,.. D4d you- go inta• the house?-- A. - I did. 
• • 

Q, ,•\_rou•- see anybdd_y :present inside•:- the hoUse. 

JoHn Bodner? A Yes, sir. 

that you have mentioned went intO *the -house where Bo.ctner was; 

Nas anything said. in the hearing of Bociner? 

Thrnsher went in first iLr' iate-17 fciriowea bj. Sarni ttlo •a-no, 

the other defenciant, `Itazso-n. 

in and I went in. .There Was, someone there.). a younic wori1.4.r..1 .1 

she interfere-id, and this ,detective Ransbur:g 



-71810111WW—WiliPn. 

I. 

-Or 

another man, but Samitto turned: a,rourr-a and pointed Out -this 
- 

. defendant and. saya: "There i8 the man Sitting fbwn liere - _ 

, 

.Q. This. defendant?. A 'Yes. Then detective'llanstrare---, 

went 'over and -old him he was unde-r arrer t. Tie wanted to 

inside to get his.oat. and hati but the detective wouldn4-t . 

allow.him, so somebody broupTht.out the coa± and hat and 

was 
- 

he: , 
_ 

. • 
Qi Id . you hear Bodner say anything -at the time he was 

arrested ,in, C .11ouSe? 

Yes.-

4. 

thc,-house? 

On the thetatitn„house aid you heanb dp:pr 

say anything out this charge? 'A I did. 

Q., -When he was 'questioned 

•• 

Detectiv. eRms1urg was_it in 
- 

' Polish Or English? A -In English. 7.-Te told what he.was 

accused of, taking C-anudian money from the 

and,':-,e said he didn't 7-mow anythin7. about it. 

'f)," Thatis what .1')odner.said? 1 Bodner Said. 

Q Lie he say 1-hat in Enhlish? - A The same ab the 

detective With that the defendan.t -,-,.nitto said to him in 
.•• 

Polish: -"Thy don't 7ou te'll; we are in; Why 'don't vou_tell 

-about' it; 'vou know, you e,id • 

Tas that.s=,id to Bodner? A mO odne-, 

'Q. That did Bodner +hen s -r, anvt,h4n.7? A .BOdne,----• 

said-- well, he.didn't ariser. Thn he walked awa,r a qpace.  

- That conversation there was betwRen the detective ana the 
s_ 

Ow. 

am. 



'What tOok placi--when:You Fot to the station h.ouse?--.-, 

St the statiOh house, the aamplaininF 

was there- sitting in a-room aSide-asyou eijAr the station 

• • • 
house; a little rOom called *he detectives' room,  firor 

-passed bv_the Lieutenant as you went there. where-nlekofSky 

. _ . 
was sittinF on• the. side, odewasbroupht 

 • 
:in arm Olekofsk7. imediately 2..ot .upndf "'.(11-ere 

I-neVer saw you, before.'" Then -7tazson spoke 

they borh spoke to -the defendEint: "Why don't you 'tell; we 

0. Tell what he said. 

"tie Out "The defendant admitted". 

detective„"Do vou know this man'?" pointincr to 
_ 

Fe says, ."Yes, T wa* his son's Fodfather." 

That is what sooner said in English or Polish?. 

was in English. 



.What.erse? 
- 

his man?"13 int4jag, out the cothpla,ining ,witness O1ek0f., 

He says: r saw him, but. I dian't•take his money. 

Bodner 'say anything else beSil#b that? 

'4c 
within my hearing.; 

GROSS ',EXAMINATION By USW: 

the station h-ctse at the time Bodner 

was identified by PlekOfSk.y? A Well, Dudnitz, tazsor 

Olekofsky,  Detective P,ansburg and Detective WunsCher. 
. .• - • 

'Was °amitto?, 

And Mrs. 57,amitt0'; 71,1 Say.athitto was. there? 

AncLfrot !lemitto? A Yrs.)Samitto Na6nitliherew 

you Made the identification? A :r1,he did. 

q And her -husband was left in the station house? 

A. He was. 
—ma 

A Ter husband was locked in a Cell by •• 

there, the Lieutenant took hiTri into a cell) and, 
- 

Olekof sky was waitinz outsid6 in the detective •groom. 



•'back__ to. te- Statian— use with the Office_ ? • 
• r. 

ere; they brought him bWt—from—the cell - Samitto was there-  

Q, At the time the defendant date in? A Yes, sir. 

Q, You ,,have just heard .thQ, off ice.r tes tify ; - haven t you 

You heard him testify that the defendant said he knew 

ramitto .t you? A I am speaking: about .the conversa-
- — 

ti on in the same station house; I heard it, yes. °  

dant• said. that he knew ..arrtitto?,. 

Q Tiat he defendant knew c-ta 

defendant when,you •Say now the defendant saw him 

but .I didn't take his !noney. " What do fd-d---inean 'by "I saw ---him".? • 

A. That's the words, exactly :what he said-. That's the- words 



Q Did 11e---6a3r it-in Polish to th.e ,detective A To 

He didn't say it in Polish_te, the detective. He turned 

- 
.(*),.. The d tective'sfddiVt understand 

within my hearing, nere_wa probablgbingeleaidr 

7._ 

MR.,),n,AN-LEY: •I offer in. evidence -this People's 

•exhibit No, •1 for identification: -

No. 1 in evidence; Dec. 19, 191'3. 



!IR..- IUF7Y: I think the People have.failed to -:make , 

in  
_ . . . 

that the complaining witness is in no,..*.aY'ico.., 

rOborated. 

THE COURT: That is the ground of your mo-tion? 

fUlnlY: Yes, sir. 

-THE COURT: Any other 7round? 

d)licrt-'Y: On the further ground that:there'has 

any proof here of any larceny whataoever. 

THE COURT: Any other ffouhe 

TFE COURT: ,l'otion denied. 

TT 70017C,7mITT 

7,0TW",T7'. 701) r-r°77'n m':-TT14 TTJPY. , 

auly sworn, testified as follows:-, 

11.)cAIII.1,A.TIONa uJ. DUTY: 

do you work at? A I am living ou ' cooking. 

. Q Who cyo -ou work for? A. 2rrs. Evarts. 

q Where do tl,e7 A 280 Garfield Placd1 



And where did you become Etc.qua,Inted'with him 

At tha,t lady's friend. 

house? 

Q 291 East Houston '',treet? 

Q, You became acquainted .wit la hem about three—months 

TAince you became acquaintea- with him has he been 

two:unda:4,rs? 

, 
q.Th4t.1;ime.would he meet:yOu-onSppaay? 

:koing out ahout four. 

q You went out t fOui- o'clock and met him? 

my friends in Brnoklvn. 



defendan 'ITY lady fr i end s Sheehan. 

Where does shd keep?- A he lives in 4t11. -Avenue 

14th treet. 

tql:, • 

Brooklyn ,611 t 

- 
Yes 's ir he ne.t me 

day a10 he see vou on 1sToVember 

-;Abdut foUni. o c look. 

wheredi'd you 17,.o that aay with him? A 

friend-, the lady in 4th Avenue at 14th  Street. 

k 

ftC 

7ave --Tceen amit to in the last two months? 



Q, Three or foui- 'months? A •About.. three months orso 

Q, :About •rt_h_lee._:_months Yes, 

You. haven't seen her, at all in three 

see her at all. 

You *Say that you  have • known To 
_ 

About three • Month-s,;. r- 7146 t him—there.' 

Ptreet? 

.qatitto t'!ire-re at the 

0, • At the time when 7-rou 

-Bodner there in 51amitto s house? AA- i*•was there about ' twci. 

.Q i1dyoueirér seeC!arnitto and B•odner in ,9amitto' s 

_Jai:Luse at the same time? A He went with me over there when I. 



e toOethe-r- at-.. the -same 

any time? well, some time T might be direr nie 

e am-n  4- talking-ab4x-it ay particular 

Did you ever on any day see Samitto and Sohn Bodner  

lioUse

-

before 

other day? 

The - first time 

you met 70n Bodner? A Yes) sir. 

And did vou -go there-On.#,hat day and some Other 
) 

day, to  lirs...,Samitto'shotent a couple.of times:afteri -, • 

Dia you .see-Jhn Bodner.there the other times? 

• 
We met and go over. 

Ad JohnTBodner wasn't,in the house when you went  



house;:on any 'Of „hose days fha ou saw- lohdritt.-. thtI7e. 

There was lots of times there .he wasn 

Q, I -suppose that is 'so, but did:you ever 

That mont-Was it in when you met l'ohn Bodner? 

. . 
HowT. - know -how long 'as- three months -ago. 

Q,, 3ut tell me the months of the year.; tell ,me what 

--Do .05,12, know the English names for t 
s 

.Yes, sir; I 

Just give them 



SAMUEL itilEnTRA.TCHNIK duly sworn à.s interprete? of the olis 

examina-tibia is Continued. throtTer-t--e4inte r. • , 

If, you icn6W tell me What they ate 

- THE INTERPRETP,P, : . he 

cOT_TR'I". P.:robably she does  know. ritart .with 

,Tanuary; as .her if she knows eat the- onth after .Tanuary: 

THY  T S : 

TT!: C C)TTPT:, Go 'right ahead. 

•Tri-J11, ITT PII1I3: 

T 

THE. ',III TRES S..: 

THE G3UI7CI: What comes after that? 

What month comes af ter this month, 7ou knowl 

TRRST: .72nuat 



li/TANLEY : 

What -month ist1its (NO answer)% 
.„; 

Whet month was it. when you met 3ohn Bodner? 
° 

TdOn4t think about the month 

(I, Cr you tell 'what month it was when ;you met tile defen-

A 'Three. ,months! 

r) Did you meet him 

time'? A In dmmer time. 

 jou tell Me-7,piheth0r!_jt Was, the firstthe : second 

the third or the fourth `'.unday ifA the iont A I .tVLiditt-t, 

look at the calendar. I don't know what unday: it wasp.' 

,him when you sawhim next? . . 
T always did se & him; 

nday that.'rou fit net Y Est 

next timea er- 4- frr-
week, ta.f. 71-": 41-P! Flecend F-etT ''17;T, on 



**FIR. MANIkIr: Please put that tlih the Polish 

*When was the next day after that,that.You Saw 

THE WITNE99:- The second day I did not See 'him. The 

next' (lunday hecarF to my house 

os, Did yQu. see him-- wh.n was C'e next t1mefter that 

'Sunday that you saw 

ay and unday the last'c'unday and Thursday 

Did you see him every hursdaY? A -',,,Tot every 

.0 Did you see him every ThurdaY? 

see him every. Thursday. 

Lo you' recall the..particUlar days of the month, lii 

the second, third, fourth, fifth,. co you recall--- did you  

keep track of thoSe days? 

js it then t you know that you saw John Bo 
Th 

on the 9th aaj o. ovember, which is Sunday? 

don't let Ine gc, the—'e metirles ..



•:1•••••••••••7:74:1,71::Pg'.;7',:::',-.•:,',:::-.4,--. • 

°MR."- MANLEY!. 1 
... 

:your native aanguage? 

.T.H11]..:WiTNIMS:

 

No lam  ta.11c batter  fitilsh. 

I am here fourteen years in this 

.5y NR. NANLYY: 

Q. Ho* do. you ktaw the 9th day af NOvember wacSunday-f 

house. 

Q, Where did he meet you,' 
4 

Then we went t 

treet? _A r,etween 5-1tree 

A When, before 

0- Yes,' the 2d of —ovember, the cluridayThefore that One? 

last:iunday-- the two weeks I never 



member that one StIndaY; the •SundaY before dá you remember. 

 -N 
where you Went with him? A To the picture -show: 

The Sunday before :that? A Yes, sir. 

,citay be come to mY house. 

' On the ]Ath? A He aaWays come to my -house; .on 

Sunday .1 go out, another Sunday he cbmes up see  

— - 
Can you remember one unaay from anotr' 

- 

BY =TY:: 

liciw many Sundays altoge;her. since you b'ecame. acquain-

ted With Bodner have you seen him A That I see 1ii 

yes. A Well,- I doWt think -that linw many undays 

. it was. I know him about three months aFro.; that's all. 

.Every F!unclay for three months?: 

*T:o

 

riot repeat tbe-answers, r)f witncss, 

71e mOn' of .7rceiriber, 

'0 j a lea6in7. 



A Somebody called me up, and told met 

When?_ A This 'week, a wee X ago; somebody called me 

up and told me he was arretted. 

'D T R Y T. A Z 0 N, a witness for the defence, 

being-girst duly sworn, (through Samuel :Meratchnik, duly sworn 17:-.  

.:1TRECT.EXAMINATMT DU77Y: 
s 

Where do 7rou live9 

What number? A 185 East Third street. 

Who, do you live With? A Yy sister.. 

rl• Do you know the name of the other boy who was arrebted, 

with you? 

sec hiTI 

yes. 

live with ,/(•.)u top? 

kLOw OTekofsky? 

rmop..njze him. 

10 be identi*cC? 

dc t not. know. 



_ 

• 

•. 

How lo-nr-TaVe '.&-0-11 known ame t to? 
• 

very • long, know 411711 ,a,,a'qp_ple of morithS. 

JL fiplart 

Q Do you know his wife? A he is my, countrywoman. - 

Q__On the 9th day of November you were at. clamettb's 

- 
house? A -YeS. 

: '7:291 East 'Houston .Ptreet? A Yes.  

And, who was. there when you ent there? A .f.laaretto, 

- his wife,.and some girls.. 'here were some men, in there 

* unknown, to me .y 

0_ what time did ,Tou go in? A "7'ive o'clock in the 
, 

afternoon 
• r _ 

Q . Was there-:any drinkinL:. . done? A Whiskey on the- table; 

.1. 

beer on the table; they give me to drink; I drank with them. 

, _clLia. you see anbody go. put7;and brin-A. in beer;?:, A Yes. _ 

wars-4-tHlioro'wtht in? A pinj:. TW.s man. 

that was there kx-sent out to get twenty.,cents worth of. beer. 

id it 6oine -in in a pail? A Yam, they brought in 
_ - 

this -One pint; there was a lot of, beer there; brought in 

i:tbout fourteen- pints. 

q -How many glasses in each pint? A. Abou43 twelve 

_ 
gaasses . 

What was: the size of -the can; can you cive us arty. --
„e 

idea ofj the size of the can? A A big one. 
A foot high. 

p And there was fourteen of these earls of beer bought 

/ 
in? A Yes. 

4 
: 

r. 



twelve. - _ 

Did 1,1e drink of the wine sz>r whiskey? 

drank whiskey-. 

,Who did you ga out with? 

is'in he e; we went to a wedding. 

Q, Where was the wedding? 

'A With'71 :friend that 

A 10th qtr-eet and Avenue 

4 

And after the wedding' where did you 

to slep at one' o'clock in the mctrning. 

Q.whlIe you was in qametto's house did 

some money. Whether this, waS'Americanmoney or some 

money .I don't know. 1. didn't pay any attention to 4 

show the money td? 

him give -ametto a five 

chance? A T didn't see. 



4110#11;: 

Q.Whop.Id for all the beer? 

out. for` beer- and was drinking 

•

 

then I went home. 

A This strnge- man that was in, the house was 

'holler ing ;. said he ,vante to get_ married-. 

, 
Lid he say aliy,:thing about_ comiiig from Canada? 

. I do not  know where he came. from. 

PL _ 

When you and Thadnitz left did You 14 atre him behind? 

SamettO was left yithl,. thi s s &Anger -"and me 

the weldding. 

___:__APecember 9th? A Yes. I know some -eay last 'week. do 

not remember the date exactly. 



therri; then I took them over 
- 

Q Did TUdniti s.y to you: 110,c) aiiead, an e11. everYthitig, 

I will tell everything" On ,the 'nircht when you Were arrested?: 

: r-ttnZT--Ttl - 

Tar 'COURT: This was, in the preserioe .of the defen., 

IT. .?tIANLEY :  No  It goPs ' to the credp?ility oC 

The wi4ness testified ,he wasn't there at the 

' away to a wedding. - 

COURT: 

. - 
LUTTY: •'Exception. 

"'HT' COURT: 

0,, Did you then say to them-- they were there, the 



9 . . 

Tohn Bodner lives? 

thatls why I called you and-t:ook.yOu 
- 

OUPT: Better ask' -for a 

That is not as responsive as it might be. 

..,_____(:Aus-st4on-repeated by the stenographer 

THP.: COWTjrffyou- Say 

iè WI s. 

1.7.* lITA:TLEY: You dont t know h:o. IN this money vya,,s taken. 

from OlekofskY, do. you? 

TIP 71T7:7,--.7444,,,,--'40. • 
_ 

ti-no,COTIPT: T niei(OfSkY ere:h  • 

by this witness? • 

(Alex'ander nlekofsky is presented *before the wi1nes and 

- identified by  him). 

. AjL_Is that the -man you speak of having seen 

.in the house-, ametto that night? t,. 

7,r-IT: A man like-him; looked like him 

whether he is the same or not, I do not know; I only sal him 



defence, 'being 

— tirst duly :earn, (through. am.uel ileratchnik.,-duly sworn as 

Polish interpreter) testified as follows:-

with the' former Witnesa at thb house . 

11.is mother or wife? A  Yes. 

Q. On IjoveMber. 9, 1913,.  were you at the house of .atett-o? 

.At 291 at  Haus.ton-Street? A Yes, I was. 

Q And was you there with the former -witness, StaSzon?. _ 

Did you see the defendant there? 

t time did you 

Q Who did you find there? A 'A tall man sitting there 

behind sthe table. I find clamet:to' s wife. 

two girls -came. In there then were three, girls. 

Q, How many were there altogether? A. night 

I found on the table „a_pint of beer and whiskey; a Pint:of 



r twenty cents. 

glass 'Of 

Did yOu.drink-4nyof the beer and whiskey that night?:' 

lie.:asked MB -diiik whiskey—but 1 -do noto_drink 4hiskei, 

twenty cents; fill full. 

Q" How many glasses vpijd be in one:pf.those pints? 

Cannot tell yoU7._ 

(1 How Many—t-rmes was the Can sent out to be filled?' 

TO my—knowledge fourteen. pints of -beer -after which 'I 

youwere there? 
) .  

\P, How mpch beer did he drink? A T didn't count them; 

(i1W-t watch them. 

How many hours was he.dinking the, beer?' 

, 
Q How did this, stratff6 nah act after drinking all this' 

beer? A re said that hee=lme here to gat married 

wastalking about different things. howed some money, but 

I don't know That kind of money. 

Lid he show any money to Samettc? A. 



Q. Who aid you leave with? A Alone. 

Q And where did you go to  A. To a wedding. 

Q . And where was that?.. lOth ,",treet and Avenm4,7 

Was rtabzon With you? A He came afterwards... 

Q To tile weddihg? 

q And how 1n di  you remain at the wedding? 

2.7`id you go with (7taszon? A Ye 

q Then -were 7,'91.1 arrested71i TuesdW7 last. 

CROSS EXAMITTAT ION MANiTYf 

That time'was it When you rr.O.f. .to-P.ametto! 

Ibid'_lametto- leave before you did? 

when I we there, I give for the beer, I went out 

Then. you left the house to go to the wedding, 

A Everybody left; the girls 

They were drunk, every one 



of them.- Some Jew in there they kicked with his feet an 

called him a,' ,Tew _13a-stard. 

THE QOUPT: Strike AJolit; 

During the time you were -there they sent:Out for 

feurteen times for beer? 'A- Yes: 

Couldn't 'it'have. been -thirteen times? 

A Yes, sir. 

How hirth w4 that can in Which they put this beer'? 

(Witness indicates 15 or 1r) inches). - 

right up to the brim? A It was full. 

"P. l'ANITY: 

J OHN BODN' R, a -Witness for the defence, being ,first 

duly.sworn, testified a's -Pollowsl--

IIRYCT j-IXAMNATTnY 7-Y DUITTIY: 
, 

Where do you live? .A 327 East 23-7treet. 

Wha.ris youf .business? A .1Wai±er.--, 
— 



S¶theunday that itls charged here you  were on 

'Bowery at No. 279? .A I wa6n t 

Do you'.know this younf lady? 

*become acquainted with h 

•wasa boy; Was, godfather to ids_ sOrf:7-

How long have you known him? A. AbOut five 

" . And did you met th..1s7-Young lady at tha:t 

you said" AT Yes, $1.1,:. 

And since you -let that young lady had you been calling 

on her, since you met 7iss Prince you had been calling on 

har:_at her rooklyn addressl--A Yes, sir. 

Wbere had you been calling. on her-?I A Was there: 

every. '7uriday; sometiMes Thursday in thd middle of the w6ek. 

..at month would you. say it was you met  her a 

It was long ago; over two months 

about three months-- not quite three months 

Tould you- pay it was in  September? 



What _day?_ A 1..do. hot icnow:the 'date. 
,p 

-Q :Since you became acquainted with her -what time o 

day would you meet her at her residence'? A What. !Ulm'? 

A  ;.On the Ath' Avenue corner 13th treet,' 

(r What time? A Half past fouri. MoStlk. 

.Every ('=unday? A Every (,unday, sometimesin 

die of the Week, Thursday. 

°InCe you -became acquainted you-Went most  

, 
every (.1unday except tile last two  A These last two, 

_ 
9 You haven't been over. for -tIne last two A I fhavent.t ' 

Q How many times altogether have 

280. Garfield' Place? ' "A. I do not remember. Haven't Counted 

About how many tire, would you say? A Might he;  

twelve times; I don't '<now. Never counted them. 

On thi night oP ""rovemb 1913, wee. you at he 

9, 'What time would you' return • from Brooklyn after seeing ' 
- 

lis8 Prince? A I' left Brooklyn about twelve OTClock; 

reached home it was about tWo •.71hen- I left Brooklyn 
% 



_ 

naybe it was a', quárt,er•past eleven' or more.. Then.Trèáol,ed 

Where' irould: you go vv. —1717-her wlien you were iroing to - 

--Q, Where did she live? A On 13th '`Itreet, No. 204. -

at a:venu p4th Avenue corner 4th 10-enue and 

What-floor? A--Second floor. 

Q. Then ivas the first time you saw OleJOfskyl. the com, •
 

4 
plaining witneser A ,t fhe-istation, thdetectzve was with 

He says: "Here 6--thertan" alci he looked-at:me and Says: 

"I guess that's 7h4t's what he said-. 

23d 6,treet. 

0 IS that the first %mowledge you ever received of. 

this larceny? A Yes, oir. 

That ,you tell, the officer when he arrested 'you? 

A T tnld him Vdidn't know the man; .neversaw him before. he 

CR(*.EXAINATION nY p. LANLEY.: 



that .yourwere eoliv,icted of a crlme9 A I wap arrested here 

about five years ago for being 

Weren't yo.0 convicted in the -State. or litinneSo 

St. Paul?. 

here, I said. 

Q I don't care where tt.,ms,,;,....mere you convicted at 

Were* convicted? A. 'T -don't knoir. Grand larceny, I  guess. 

You got four years •in the Yinne'sot-a Sta,te Reforma-

tory? A Yes. 

Ti4lal- was 

plead -7101+"9 

stole? -A I didn't steal nothinp. 

-uirt do it. 



I didn't pant to: 

Q, Did You plead guilty to 

A[ 

Well; you pleaded guilty.?, 

something you 'hadn't; done 

Did you plead guilty; 7/that  s velat I 

THE TITNES'S: I did. Tliev compelled me to do 

°-Q, 7'iat was it that vau pleaded guilty of idoing? 

. What.was 

Which JOU 

About 1ow iriTo i tlie,.! n;mr? 



since I 1ms godfather-to-his 'Sons 

you know when that  was; how Mpg? A our or five 

I knew him from Europe; not froth:here.' 

Q Then you knew him before you wiit to MinneSota?---

Q When was it th.atyou came toNw.York'afteryugt , 

out from Ninnesot? A Uhen was it?, 

A Last winter.': 

.q Was it this 7ear,. this same year, 1913? 

q. Haw 1onthave you known. John 7aliachak? A rdo ot 

know that name;' never beard that name cloefore.,, 

Q You never knew TAaliachak? , A' Nol.bir... 

Lidn't 'ivr at 21r) East-3d.Rtreet? A° No 

[7i v o.' ew York in nIrch 

Q. Weren't 7r,,i i! 0 r.1 'IP 291 7, 77.c,12.7ton °,,,ree 
, •.. , . - 4, 

on the 4th elr-.7 _ 7,-r: —T !;., f), Tr'-n a1.iachak9 
• 



I -waPn-,there--.. 

  (Continuing )A d _n didn't a man come In 

to everybody sitting there to show their money, and didn't 

man named Andy Vesa show his money, and didn't jOhriMa.lia-

chak in your presence, grab it and. run away? •A No, sir. 

Of November this year? 

u. seen him last before 

Tst before-7. 

e last time I saw him was in the houce, 

.and.that-woman wa there and me. 

- 
When Was .thEttj- how lonl,? A About three months., 

-three months? 

Zou werJflt rtret anywhere on the 9th d-cty 

dldn't say to Anybody that 

he there, I was in T.rotc-, 

in,rboklyn. 



left New- York.. a.b o t three,o clock, 

_ 
9 The day you ijere arrested,_ do you remember r,tas 

came into the-hoUse, you Were there _last week on TteSday 

A I aian't hear if he said anythin7 or not. 

7.Tlay did -rou tell -":'4°171 that? 

The officer dddn't make it nlain whoametto waS?.. 

A. Not ametto. • T 

becaullii. 

teo t'hat you di(i't 

-.c.r.; 'mew him? 

" or 

know hoyir-liany'.47,he e were. I  
• 

'new  :nim from Europe. 

(0 remember, 

WOW 



Did they ask 'yeu if you  had ever seen Alexander 

-Olekofsky and did-- ybu  say at fir9t th.t_yolA haOril.# ever seerr:-. 

.Did you say. afterwards that you had ,S'een him, that 

- but vou didn't take 'bi's money? 

OTTO RANSBUP G, a witness for the prosecution, 

recalled, testified as follows:-, 

I, IRE C T EXA2),INATI r EY . .A.I\ITAEY 

the—gth day of-November you -Sa Olekofsky and 
• 

eight, and nine ot,cloc10. A 'Yes, 

upon Inin? 

`' 4, • 4ja 



during the 'time •the• -evidence is taken, bu 

and, I ask YourHono. to 

tact that $154"L Canadian money 

United.gtatea money, Will you 

EF. DUFFY: To,.sir. T canno-t-rbebauSe 

th more than $50. 

:2ql Eat Houton reet,-'bein,0--first dulr sworn 

fled as folleWs:7 

P. TOUr nai Ic And-!7amit'? A Yes, sire 

And you h.e.me   Ooirip• certain:acts; 

with regard to  Itsin.mone!, taking of money 

01e1ofslv.,, 

4ay 

-cid you come to 77'office in this building? A ,Yes,' 

;J,:t VereH7,ive me certain names? A I d4.4.. 



Did I -promise• you anything if you would, .rive me 

, these , naines? A  

Q _That sarie day i ( rcu ;--o anYihere,_ Wi th the polic 

of-T-i-cer na this  sofficr Ran„sibur; 'cid yt,u -7 o .anywhere 
•. 

with hi-1? Yes eir 

lorc at n I P:11 V? 

0 Is_Ad - you e• xrpre tf.?? ;;'7,nd i n- there that 

night?' ,A Yes, 

ques ti en ,,,, 

anythin _to :Tour wife before ;,re . wife left the station. 

house with t're :1.en?- A I cid. 

' officers brin,7 ln an:rbouy thes.tatL%'. hue? A ,I cU 



aid you after t go -with the offip-er-anyWherel-

u see this defe 

Bodner, anywhere? 

In the  hoUse ,on—.23d .-qtreet? 

anything; point him out to anyone? 

DUFFY:  I obj'ect 

-THE ^O.OTTET: overrulea. 

that same day -besides Olekofsky; on that clunday night,_ the 

ana Einitry and'Yike lt!ave 

Q. Where did you left -your house? 

o on76th: qtreet 1rothor*411 7aw. 

happoni 



Y.e.S_or no, to that. A When we darrie--on 12th 
, 

there usedto be an old cemetery,,at_Italian-ce'tIetery 

lost his pocket book. I picked it up. 

What ac you mean-- John Boaner lost his pocket book? 

picked it up. 

where did he come from? A He :followed us. 

lowin7 you? A Fleventh ("treet. 

-There was ii  .that .1F,odnr 

at did-von 

That happeneo next? . A T.;ooner said be-ioqt $300. • 

Whb oia he say th,to? A To everyone ofus; 

What happened next  

four of.us showed 11111__TOMZy•-theTe.. 

To whom? A To Eodner. 



Bodner: do?A He* t7i4res tu Bodn,er money; Canadian inoney. 

grda,t -d-id--Eodner do? A . Eodner had the money in 

s hand. , 

•Q, Yes• A And he cb.anged ; he snitched the other money 

Q, Tell us  how he aid that; tell yr 

hact_a.,tancherchief in 

Five' to Olekofsk7.. : 

right, ano 

_ 
-9, That happenedafter_ that? AAfteT- It John Bodn6r 

way ne.11.nitry- on the side anei we all 

ner did • "111? 

tu:rnt around.-, 

o'Iqo went away with oTeko 

rle, from t7nr, olc 
.4.Awt444. 4444.,,,,4 

CIPOqc" Y.7rk."T7ATT r-Y 

wtTeanv oThe tiges Ilave 

long have you been Out-of- prison? 

Q And ..v.rha:t were you- convicted' of? A ' 

Q, And for th.. information you have 7iven the District 

-44.4.444.4.4.44444•44444.44444.444 



• lER...MANLE 

.(Interpreter explaAns to witne 

A '''r-d-Rrhbt—a"gk-him for anythinq. 

will give me or not; -I didn't 

donit know the't 

 aTlything. 

(4.#-E91. expe 

1..,rt 

don't, I cant 

q You are not 

Q You haven't herrn come time,' 4i No, 

; 
ate last time vu were arrested you asked him 

TJT COUPT: Do 7ou know iss Prince;_ did :Miss Princo 

:eVer call at youf. home?: 

.7117 WIT7E9:7-Perhap -1-P-I would see her fade. 

name is Mary Prince? 

That is her name, do vou.know that-wothan? A--1es4 

(Indicatinf- 1".Tar1r prince). 



TIE COTYRT Has She ever called 

WITIESS 

is—she to your 

brother •are married to 

Ame you were ar-,-eSted did 1.iou asx Bpdner 

o and get you .out 

— -Never-did? A No. 

thie girl 

wo wiontlis ago.  

_ 
:74,unday?_. no know whet',er 7cle 70es •to ier-r 

• _ 

You have not seen er in +11e past two or-threc: -TonthS_. 

though?. A Yes, 

0 When -was the last -41m(?. 

months aFo;7To nht 're-member 

q Where .clid 70U see Boner-cop this pocket book? 

A On Twelfth street. 

Q 7 Twelfth Streot in le  

n front of the cemetery. 

Q .How far is   ara: 
,..`*00+• 1.1,,,M4trftloW 

.,1'-ar away from therlower. 



Third Av'enue. 

Then the ,ceme-tery9 A Tirezj he. ceme-terY. 

our blocks Away, isn't it  A The cemetery 
_ . 

&it +he .+Ame 'rQ;. sky '7.n1) 

On the Bowery that that :happened 

fterwarbs, 1 don't 

were-- •t wasn't wasnt 

was on 12th 



Did :you leave 01e4cTfbiqr 

q .1.11a you 07away .ulono? 

Where Old you rf-0 then? 

Where-didBoOner go 

aprfter?'Aiitie 

rz-,!;0 with MiRe. 

inhorne 

7.-cCner go home. 

Where did the fellow 70, 

Wjth alekefsy. 

Q, rid Bodner ask 

boOy.dhowed.him that. 

Did 5odner ask Oleko 

sayd:. "Show us yolloney" and everybody.rthowed. 

Who•-Wls "Mow 119r A 1-',odner. 

Had you arranr:ed before; ha o i.4-7bseen arn.mged before 

between jou unu Loaner that Loaner wad td arop the ;pocket. 

he take-,the handkerchief, no. 

Had you seen- Lodner any time that day before the 

.pocket book was drop-oed? A Yes. 

A When -I went for the beer. 

cl You didn't see. Bodner at all until the pocketbook  

was droppeal'ai,d you? A -r7ui-e, I did. 



the Italian cemetery, 'doesn't 

away 'from  the Bowery is that? 

lives on 15th . , 

How far 

t- 'Know —1 was 

- 'never there in his house, 

How far away from 291 East- Huston street had you 

one before the pocket hook was dropp.ed?. A • Te went D*It 

•"dtraight up to Twelfth street. 

And what stret did 

• the park, from.Avenue A through th.5' Pak to Avenue 

And how far is this  Ir'ouse of vours, 291 'Past 7ouston 

_Street, from the Bowery? A This is far away. 

five locks ay? 

,How much further east hao you walked than the five 

"blocks from 'your house? A -We- went to  Twelfth Street ; about 

to gb to Sixteenth 7tre 

Q And at the 4'.ire- you werewalking-Ixtra7tvere ,at least 



"SeCond Avenuel, And Third Avenue;. k 4 

Q Three blocks away? A .Yes. 

Q Did you see Bodner after he left you at Twelfth   

T did not. 
— 

bet at the cemetery? • A  John went wi 4th the money home-.' 

- And what bedamo of Ojekofdky? .A Olelcof sky went 

to Av3nue A and Dinitr't left 1'7 

:-'41itting  the money? 

knOw. what he :means 

by splittirv the money; took the ;•;ooo. money and gave him-
__ 

you .rieant 

TI-174? WITT:SS: 

- 
,00k the money away-: 

Q 'Ant. When did yotu fir-st kn1iw:that77 A 'When he 

showed me the ten da-flar'Canadian 

Q How rany -pints df "oeer 

A About eleven*nints. 

Q Did Olekofsky drin,‘-c 90MEL of it? A He drinks just 



04* 

.What:Wat the '  of it"A About that.11aghtTa in •. • . _ 

How many:-ilaWaesAid.lt Six glasses. 

.QH,What aad it cost to fill the can? A Ten ants. 

• q. And you did bring some beer? A And ano4er:faIlaw, 

.brine some beer.' 

Lid you you meet Olekoky on outan'treet, A '74"O,f 

• i-dIci„L:c°-

.q..Wht, did he ask .you tb4-m-t? A 7e usked for a room 
• . 

to hoard.• 

• Q. And you broukht 

yes, sir. 

A-7ge acne over; 

C): ,What -time. was that A Was about half past tWaIve, 

.r iih 'Olekof,sky did .you 

find Staszan_and Ludnitt there) did tliv:come in after-

iwaras? A One man come in first ano. then another. 

Q'Lia y.ou sena for them? A io, sir. 

That time. cid thev le-tve? A They leave the same 

time. 

Q Lid you all lea,re atY-t.he same time? A Half past 

q Dtd you hear. StasZon and Dudnitz talking about going 

around the corner to a wedding? A did not. 



Q, What time would you say that .Dudnitz and, Tiltaszein 

IS Docke t hoc* dropped ES 
- 

th ir ty minutes to: sevens.-

• Q._ You 'left your iouè 

; what: d 
_ 

time from fi-(te imtil.-f!leven?-

41)0,ut ten or fifteen_minut 

Q, Then it must have 

ti-e. house? 

Two out of  

,had - two rlases 0P1Pe. 

1-lavit_.ni)(311 drank. 

at half past fj.v 

re., this hp-pened - 

I- understand- Tr)te 



see me. and say yali 
_ 

, _THE WITNESS: 'T did. 

MR. •MANLEY: ?Mat's, all. T-1-m through. 
r— - 

MR. DUFFY: That's all. Defence rests. 

Cotnsel for the prosecution summed up. 

• 
The Court charged the jur71 as follows: 

'THE'COURT:. Gentlemen thcAury, thi.s.defendant 

_has bee .indicted ,for the or inFi; 7,ranei'.. larceny in the _second 

was.a 

'iminally•re,oeivinz 

indictment, fOr the crime stplen 

only count in -1-hi an( only_cr.i.me you. are _ . 

to consider at all is the r rand larceny 'in the second 

d.egree  YolA are to dete 

4-9, guilty of the crim.; 

who, .with the  intent 

property, or of t1-

nriate the sam 

son, takes from the 

a.ny 

the true owner ,f'• 

nefit thereof, or to_ap-

aker,' or of any other: 

such proper**, 

ral de-



finition ofrcen3r, the Crime with whia—the defendant 

• .There is the crime of grand 

TC the article qtoln is of the value Of over 000. and a 

,larceny has been committed, then the defendants who poMmitte 

the larceny, where the value of the-artlicle stolem-i&is over-, 

has committed the crime of grand larceny in the £3rst 

howevr, is of thevalu of more th W. but.iess 
• 

$500,. then that -would constitute grand larceny.it:the se end' 

e_gree, Dther larcenies ate_DP. -±petit larcenfr.. 

Now, therefore, dut.yo:-clet-eitmtrie: 

first of all whether or tint _defendant has committed 

larceny, anc if you mAc ri.ding, that,he has cOMmit,-" 

..ted a larceny, then ha e columdtted the-crime,'the dpecifc.-• 

•crfMe with which he Ja;%.erLargect,namely, the ci,crime 

grand larceny in the rF.•(..“...n.(•:-. ••• .If you come to fthe... 

onclusion that he 

property Stolen was 

of course, you could inc-7  f grand larceny in the 

• 
e •io.u_conclude that the 
- 

riroperty stolen was 

course,_ heJpould 

•• The p,-operty in 

i-tlenwas .t.e 

$50. thin, 

:,etit larceny. 



..notice of the, fact that that property, ,15(5. in Canadian 

worth more than v50. UnIted,9tates nwney;-

-you, if you find he did steal 0.50.  tn Canadian_ billsf-then   

-I charge you that that property Was worth tore than $0. 

And ifyOutind,he did commit the larceny as described, then—

,yOU will be justified 'irCbrinjing in a verdict of grand_ 

.larcenarin the second :degree.--

Tlie...defendant_sa7. was   not present- at ... 

Crime iS alic:ged to have  'been committed. _ 

ndant'reset 

):(-) be considered by 

committed ant. dick n 

lercenlT. I' fl-nd that. 

!rlf;lain.,-, farther in this .6ase 

!!3truct irOu Tpu•-muot .bring-

'ina this aefenaant was 

allegea. to. have be(;N 

ind it ts a fact Yi 

ust acqu-Y 



• 

r . 

Is the. rea$`elig4thy I mst repeat suOli „princtoles of law a 

the-presuMption of innocence and the -necessity of proiFingth -

understand the law on these subjects thoroughly, because • 
_ 

you -are al-1 intelligent men, dnd .believe you understand 

.it- is my  duty -every tile.„ 
case is submitted to :Tou o thotruct iTou as to- 4-3aese 

ciples  arm tiat is the re.ar4on why I repeat them. 

case is prest0Te'd 

rna,ins—wih him through-

cut the entire trial 1.-.0 Lnti'l you come to your 

ion in 4,31c. CA.'C. rrie mere fact that 'IR 

been a.rreSted, heSI.vazi •••••r before a, magistrate, has 

been Indicted, must 21,'` )ri_idered against him at all. 

It must not weigh'again--t i. t 1. A '-inditctment in law 

ere accusation : ir itself evidence of .guilt. 

District Attorney fil7 

larceny beyord 

ric A+to,-ney 

. , 
nc a var:onable doubt. 

H' any element, of -rime 
, 

,.ien I dritrlict that 

7-urden is on t7-r. •:7-



defence -or prosecution may have Said something about-

• 
the acts'

 
 of the case at riarice with tour recollection, hu _ . . 

what -they have said must not control. As to the facts ' y u 

are to make up your mind. Your recollection i to be the 

test as .to what t';'1.e facts actually are. - You, therefore, will 

.Make up from your recollection of the facts your concluSion.. 

You .are to 'determine what the facts are Yu hav. seeiithe 

witnesses on: the stand. You have heard certain things' put 

-hroughoutthe 'trial 1noeternh1ninfhow much you Should be-

lieve ,,any witness.' If you ' any.,witness has wilful 

testified falsely as to .any ,aterial -Pact, then I instruct 

as that of which the 

the la, an6 r' civ 

Any ful-ther. 



The jury re.tired for deliberation. 

The ury returned and. rendered a verdict of guilty% 

of grand—larceny in the second degree. 

of the defendant was 

, 
Adjourned -to Dec ember' .'2:9 -1913  for sentence. 
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CITY AND CU:N.17-0F NEW YORK, PART V Continued. 
 x 

New Yor, December 3 

LItictibtment Me() December 11, 1913. 

The defendant isarrained before: 

- HON. JEREMIAH T. MAHONEY Judg 

The.Defcndant. 

rt please, in this caeI 

aP:-ainqt. +Me law and againFlt 

'!.xceW,ions taken in 4;1-1 course 

rround, first 

deice of the self cbrifesci ;,cccIrlid ices is wbollv untorrc-



dant was convicted upon the evidende of two 

norant and drunken? witnesses. 

isafatal variance between the indicprient and the proof. 
, 

very fatal variance. In fact the evidence is so stronr, in. 

11.0:).4 NANTFY: That ntir the indictme-nt, 
- 

C T: Any fu,-thcr ground? 

MR. DU7PY: Tb Zourth ;:round is th4t t'hereiè no 

evidence of any larceny buin. co&aittea or any evidence of 

the value of the larcefl,. A riTth ,round is on newly dis-

oovered evidence, and I f:idits here, and can pro-

uuce two other affidav  effect that this defendant 

Tn November 9th-was not i Mity of-New-York. That he 

was over in Brooklyn o -n 9th, and on that evening, 
. _ 

,..t)ootzt half past seven, ,... the moving  picture show Yi 

t! girl who=teStifdee 7' 'trial and another girl; 

the evidence cf-,-lan-. Ar:IUSI?lieFtoppea i 4;1-1 

wIlc.testi.Pied on tr' wife ti.liat he wasii • . 

BrOO.fflyn 

and Tcturn-z.:0-___ 

- 
vine' picture••shor 

. ' 



Have you anything_to say in mitigation 

of the punishit-t—bout.tm,eted out to the defendant/ 

NP. DUTTY.: I -wish to sty that the defendant cl..1,ims 

th'at thiS case has.all.been 

Sathitto made attempt 

mdnufactured by Samitto whereby 

,t2i-li7i:h.h1-4-1 because :he did not sup -

tat jr-ejudice and 

and. hac a motive to fra c.;-•tse up against him.; 

‘totaIlnoy-ant of '-x'ansaction 0: 
• . 

into c;ou.:.i.o 

he vice•ce a 

You _p--obably •-;4, 

pd,ss upoq,the eviaeno 

111}101111; 



St_ewart 1-,idtTe 11 _(pe r G 
C)Pf.---i.eia..1 $tenoraher. 
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